IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RYAN THOMAS GREEN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC06-211 L.T. No. 03-81-CF

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 606-1000

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 201170

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References to the three volumes containing the lower court clerk=s records, pretrial and post-trial materials will be designated with the prefix AR.@ The trial transcripts will use the prefix AT.@ A supplemental record will be referenced with the prefix ASR.@

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress of the Case

On March 11, 2003, an Escambia County grand jury indicted Ryan Thomas Green charging three offenses occurring on February 23, 2003: first degree premeditated murder for the death of James Hallman, attempted first degree premeditated murder of Christopher Phipps, and robbery of Christopher Phipps while carrying a firearm. (R1:1-3) On February 3, 2004, the trial court adjudged Green incompetent to proceed and committed him to a mental health treatment facility. (R1:84-87) Green returned from the mental health facility, and on October 26, 2004, the court found Green competent. (SR:439) Green filed a notice of intent to rely on the defense of insanity on May 4, 2005. (R1:128) A jury rejected the insanity defense and found Green guilty as charged on October 20, 2005, and after a penalty phase proceeding, the same jury recommended a death sentence by a ten to two vote. (R2:227, 233) The court conducted a Spencer hearing on December 22, 2005. (R2:275-311)

Circuit Judge John P. Kuder adjudged Green guilty and imposed sentence on January 11, 2006. (R3:316-388) The court sentenced Green to death for the murder, life imprisonment for the attempted murder and for the robbery. (R3:379-388) In the sentencing order in support of the death sentence, the court

found two aggravating circumstances: (1) the defendant was previously convicted of another violent felony based on the contemporaneous conviction for the attempted murder charged in this case (great weight); and (2) the homicide was committed for the purpose of avoiding arrest(great weight). (R3:350-369) In mitigation, the court found four statutory and nonstatutory mitigating circumstances: (1) the defendant had no significant history of prior criminal activity (moderate weight); (2) the homicide was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance (substantial weight); (3) the homicide was committed while the defendant=s capacity to appreciate the criminality of his acts were substantially impaired (substantial weight); (4) the defendant acted under extreme duress or under the substantial domination of another person (moderate weight); (5) defendant=s mental illness went without treatment for years before this crime (substantial weight); (6) the defendant had significant problems with drug abuse leading up to the time of the crime probably the result of his mental illness(substantial weight); (7) the defendant has not been a discipline problem since his arrest (moderate weight). (R3: 369-376) A copy of the sentencing order is attached as an appendix to this brief. (App.)

Green filed notice of appeal to this Court on January 24, 2006. (R3:390)

Facts B- Prosecution=s Case

John Bailey and Ryan Green had been friends since childhood. (T5:860) Green had recently returned to Pensacola Mississippi where he had been living with his father. (T5:870) Bailey and Green were returning from an odd job they had helping a woman move. (T5:864) On the way, Bailey noticed a cat running loose that he knew belonged to Henry Cecil, whom Bailey had known for a couple of years. (T5:865) He stopped, tried to get the cat back into Cecil=s yard and called Cecil about his cat. (T5:866) Cecil arrived along with Christopher Phipps. (T5:866-867) Phipps was Cecil=s 26-year-old nephew who lived at Cecil=s house. (T5:875-876) They all went inside Cecil-s house and sat at dining table where Cecil began some paperwork. (T5:867) When Cecil opened his briefcase, there was a pistol inside, it was silver with a black handle. (T5:868) Green notice the gun, commented on it and asked to hold it. (T5:868-869) refused and told Green it was not a toy. (T5:869) After a short time, Bailey and Green left. (T5:873) Bailey said that in the past, Green had mentioned something about wanting a gun. (T5:869) According to Bailey, Green was always a quiet person,

and on that day, Bailey noticed Green mumbling to himself. (T5:870-872)

On Sunday morning, February 23, 2003, Henry Cecil went to a nearby convenience store while his nephew, Phipps, remained home. (T5:876-877) He was gone about ten minutes. (T5:878) As he returned home, Cecil saw Phipps' white Thunderbird making a turn off the street where he lived. (T5:879) When he realized the Thunderbird was his nephew=s, he turned around and followed it. (T5:879-880) A white male with red hair was driving the car. (T5:879) After a time, Cecil lost the car, and he returned home. (T5:882) He thought that Phipps had probably called the police to report his car had been stolen. (T5:882) Upon entering the house, Cecil found Phipps on the living room floor with a head wound. (T5:883-884) Cecil ran to a neighbor=s house for help. (T5:884, 901-902) The neighbor, Christopher Dohl, called 911 for assistance. (T5:903) Officer Phillip Martine arrived on the scene and determined that Phipps had been shot and was unconscious. (T5:905) Ultimately, Phipps survived his wound. (T5:893-894)

Cecil determined that his briefcase and pistol, a .40 caliber semi-automatic Beretta, were missing from his bedroom. $(T5:844\pmb{B}890)$

He had money and marijuana on a night stand which was still present. (T5:894-895) Although Cecil knew J.D. Bailey, he did not know Ryan Green, and he did not recall ever meeting him. (T5:892) Crime scene investigator, Haley Hill, collected a number of items from the house including the marijuana, pipe, rolling papers and a spent .40 caliber cartridge case. (T5:907-914)

James Hallman lived near Kingsfield Road and took a daily walk which included that road in his route. (T5:921) His wife, Dianne Hallman, said he left for his walk on the morning of February 23, 2003, wearing a maroon shirt, blue jeans and an Alabama hat. (T5:921) He also carried a golf club and a yellow Walkman.(T5:921-922) Dawn Welch was with her son, her mother and her father driving to church on Kingsfield Road on February 23, when they came upon a man, later identified as Hallman, lying in the roadway. (T5:940-942) Hallman was bleeding from the head and alive but unable to speak. (T5:941-942) They thought he might have been hit with the golf club found beside him. (T5:941) Welch found an empty bullet casing on the ground which she showed to the police who arrived at the scene. (T5:942, 945, 954) Hallman was hospitalized and he died on March 2, 2003. (T5:922) Dr. Eugene Scheuerman, a pathologist, conducted an autopsy on Hallman. (T5:963-966) Hallman had suffered a single

gunshot wound to the left side of the forehead which caused his death. (T5:967-968)

Dennis Carlson and Timothy Stephens lived on Kingfield Road. (T5: 924, 935) The morning of February 23, 2003, they both saw a white car on the road and heard qunshots. (T5:924-926, 935-936) Carlson was working in his pasture, heard a gunshot and then saw a white car squealing tires as it sped off. (T5:924-925) A short time later, Carlson heard a second gunshot. (T5:925-926) Stephens was sitting in a chair in his home which faced a window Kingsfield Road. (T5:935-936) His house was looking toward elevated with bushes along the front and several yards away from the road. (T5:935)He heard a gunshot and when he looked toward his driveway, he saw a white Thunderbird speed away. (T5:936) Later, the police and ambulance arrived. (T5:936) Stephens walked down to the road and saw a man lying in the road. (T5:937-938) A few weeks later, Carlson assisted in examining one of his neighbor=s bulls. A round wound was found on the bull-s neck and a lump in the back side of the bull-s neck muscle. (T5:926-930)

Ryan Green and his brother, Aaron Green, both lived in their mother=s apartment. (T6:974) On the weekend of February 23, 2003, Aaron=s girlfriend, Sarah McRevy, and a friend, Brian Lockwood, were there visiting from Mississippi. (T6: 996-997, 1003-1004)

On the morning of February 23, 2003, Ryan left the apartment. (T5: 857-558; T6:974,-975, 997, 1004) Aaron said he heard Ryan in the shower, saw him dressed, and after hearing a honking horn outside, Ryan left. (T6:974-975) Ryan-s mother, Cynthia Green, heard Ryan answer a telephone call and talk to someone before leaving the apartment. (T5:857-858) Ryan did not have any means of transportation. (T5:858)

Ryan returned to the apartment around noon. (T6: 975-976) He asked Brian to go downstairs with him, and he showed Brian a white Thunderbird. (T6:1005) Ryan drew Brian close and told him that he had killed two people that day. (T6:1005) He showed Brian a brief case and a gun. (T6:1005) At some point, Ryan came inside with a briefcase to show his brother. (T6:975-976) He opened the case and produced a pistol wrapped in a red bandanna. (T6:977, 998) Ryan said the gun was his new gun, and he had to do a favor for J.D. Bailey for it. (T6:978-980, 999-1000,1007-1008) The favor was to shoot Chris Phipps because Phipps had been stealing drugs and money from Bailey and Henry Cecil. (T6:980, 1008-1009) Both Bailey and Cecil wanted Phipps shot. (T6:980) Ryan indicated to Aaron that Cecil picked him up at the apartment, drove him to his house, showed Ryan where the briefcase was located and then left the house. (T6:982) Ryan told Brian that Bailey drove him to the house. (T6:1008) Ryan

said he put the gun to Phipps' head, asked for the car keys, shot Phipps and left in the car. (T6:983, 1009-1010) Cecil followed him for a time. (T6:983) Ryan ended up on a country road where he said he came upon some wild animals and shot an "oxen". (T6:983-984, 1010) He continued to drive and saw a man walking with a cane and wearing a ball cap. (T6:984-985, 1010-1012) Ryan asked the man for directions, but became concerned because the man looked somewhat suspicious and looked in the car. (T6: 985, 1011-1012) Ryan shot the man because the man had seen him driving the car and shooting the gun. (T6:986, 1011) He said he did not want any witnesses. (T6:986) Ryan said the shootings gave him a rush and the gun did not sound like guns in the movie Scarface sounded. (T6:988) As Ryan told this to his brother, Ryan was pale, had purple circles under his eyes and was shaky. (T6:993) Brian did not know whether to believe Ryan or not because for the previous year, Ryan talked about a lot of Anonsense@ and Acrazy things.@ (T6:1013)

Around 7:00 p.m. on February 23, 2003, Green was arrested and questioned at the apartment. (T6:1024-1028) Investigator John Sanderson conducted the interview. (T6:1024-1028) Green said he had been at the apartment all day, had not been in a vehicle and had not driven in months. (T5:1024) He did say that Henry came over and offered Green Xanax to clean out his car.

(T6:1025) Green stated he took a briefcase from the car. (T6:1025) He hid the case behind a dresser in his room. (T6:1025) Additionally, Green admitted that Henry and J.D. showed him a pistol and that it was hidden in the apartment in an air vent. (T6:1026-1027) Green made other statements about stopping at an Albertson-s to find his uncle-s address. (T6:1027)

A search of the apartment where Green lived disclosed a .40 caliber Beretta pistol in an air vent and a briefcase behind a dresser. (T5:955-957) Cecil Henry identified the pistol as the one taken from his house. (T5:887) Another expended cartridge casing was found in a search of the white Thunderbird. (T5:912-913) A firearms expert concluded that the three expended cartridge casings, one from each of the shooting scenes and one from the automobile, were consistent with having been fired from the pistol recovered in the apartment. (T5: 908,912-913, 944-945; T6: 1014-1020)

Facts B- The Defense Case

In support of the insanity defense, Green presented the testimony of his mother, brother and two mental health experts. Cynthia Green and Aaron Green testified about Ryan=s history of mental and behavioral problems. (T6:1042, 1063) Dr. James Larson and Dr. Brett Turner testified about their respective

evaluations and opinions about Ryan Green=s mental state at the time of the shootings. (T6:1093, 1134)

Cynthia Green said Ryan began having problems in school when he was 13-years-old. (T6:1043-1044) Ryan was depressed and suicidal. (T6:1044) The school provided four sessions with a psychologist, but Ryan refused to qo psychologist=s office. (T6:1044) His family doctor prescribed Prozac which helped, but Ryan would refuse the medication after he began to feel better. (T6:1044) At age 15 or 16, Ryan began smoking marijuana. (T6:1045) He remained physically active in school and played football. (T6:1045) Although Ryan was not taken to a doctor, he continued to exhibit erratic behavior. (T6:1045-1046) He would stay in bed for weeks at a time. (T6:1046) He would not go to school. (T6:1046) He would not speak. (T6:1046) Although depressed, Ryan refused to see a psychologist or psychiatrist. (T6:1046) At age 16, the decision was made for Ryan to go to Mississippi to live with his father. (T6:1046-1047) Cynthia Green and Ryan=s father had divorced when Ryan was five-years-old. (T6:1046) After a period of depression, Ryan adjusted and improved. (T6:1047) He finished high school, had a girlfriend, volunteered at church and worked for his father in a restaurant where he was awarded employee of the month. (T6:1047) His brother, Aaron, moved to his father=s for

the summer to be with Ryan. (T6:1047) Aaron and Ryan came to their mother=s for Christmas 2001.(T6:1048) Ryan seemed moody and trembled. (T6:1048) He told her he had been under stress at his father=s because of responsibilities he had been given. (T6:1048-1049) Ryan and Aaron left to go back to Mississippi on New Year=s Day. (T6:1049) Around midnight, they were back. (T6:1049) Their father would not let them in the house, even to get their clothes, and they came back to their mother=s. (T6:1049)

Upon returning to Pensacola, Ryan attempted to register at the community college, but he was not mentally stable enough to proceed. (T6: 1050) Cynthia Green noted that Ryan finished high school in Mississippi B- he did not graduate high school. (T6:1047) Ryan tried to work, but he was unable to hold a job for more that six weeks before having Aone of his bad spells.@ (T6:1050) During these spells, Ryan would hear voices and lock himself in his room.(T6:1050) At one point, Ryan had lined his window sill with potting soil and planted his mother—s jewlrey and a statute of the Virgin Mary so that he could grow crystals. (T6:1050) He had also placed her necklaces and earrings on a lamp shade and the ceiling fan. (T6:1050) Ryan stopped responding to his name saying that that was not his God given name. (T6:1051) He claimed to be talking to God, a goddess he

called Mother Nature, and to the devil. (T6:1051-1052) One time he disappeared for a couple of days and ended up in the Baldwin County Jail where they were helping him because he was lost and had no identification. (T6:1052-1053)

Attempts were made to get help for Ryan during 2002. (T6:1050) His mother used the Baker Act to get him in Lakeview treatment facility in August 2002. (T6:1051) He was there through October and came home taking medication with a prescription for Risperdal. (T6:1053) However, by December, Ryan had stopped his medication and refused to return for his doctor=s appointment. (T6:1053) Ryan=s behavior deteriorated. (T6:1053) He threw things, broke his mother=s dining room set and carved a picture of a brain on the seat of a chair. (T6:1053-1054) Ryan told his mother that he had lost his ability to feel love. (T6:1054) He went without sleeping for days in a highly manic state. (T6:1055) Ryan locked himself in his room and prayed to various entities. (T6:1055) His mother had to hide the car keys because Ryan would take the car and drive it. (T6:1056) He would pump gas and drive off without paying. (T6:1056) Ryan told his mother that they did not understand who he was and that he did not have to pay because someone else took care of that for him. (T6:1056) He told his mother that God had a name for him that no one knew and that he had wings on his back. (T6:1056) Cynthia

Green worked nights. (T6:1057) She and Ryan=s younger brother Aaron took turns watching out for Ryan. (T6:1057)

On Friday, February 21, 2003, before the shootings which occurred on Sunday, February 23rd, Ryan and Aaron had friends from Gulfport Mississippi come to visit for the weekend. (T6:1055) Ryan had been asking his uncle to cosign a loan to by a car since his old car would no longer run. (T6:1057) His mother and uncle did not want Ryan to have a car, and on that same Friday, Ryan finally realized that his uncle was not going to cosign a loan. (T6:1058) Ryan Aabsolutely snapped.@ (T6:1058) He screamed, cursed, cried, threw things and banged his head on the wall. (T6:1058) Cynthia Green-s mother came to help watch Ryan, and he finally calmed down. (T6:1059) With his friends visiting, Ryan seemed in better spirits on Saturday. (T6:1060-1061)

Aaron Green is eighteen months younger than his brother, Ryan. (T6:1063-1064) They were close. (T6:1065) Aaron said Ryans behavior for the few weeks in 2002 after moving back to their mothers in Pensacola was normal. (T6:1064-1065) A noticeable difference in Ryans behavior began in March 2002. (T6:1065) Ryan started reading peoples minds. (T6:1066) He asked Aaron why he was thinking certain things about him and to stop thinking it. (T6:1066) Ryan did the same thing to some of their friends

during spring break in March 2002. (T6:1066) His behavior became strange to the point Aaron started to avoid him. (T6:1067) They did not connect anymore C- the bond they had was gone. (T6:1067) Ryan would Aspace out@ when Aaron talked to him. (T6:1067-1068) His ideas about things became unusual. (T6:1068) Ryan once asked Aaron to feel how rough his hand was and Aaron told him it felt normal. (T6:1068) Ryan told him his hand felt like the devil=s hand. (T6:1068) Sometimes, Ryan would go outside and talk to the birds. (T6:1069) Aaron and Ryan shared a room, and Aaron said that Ryan used marijuana and Ecstasy that he got from his friend J.D. Bailey. (T6:1069) Ryan referred to getting high on Ecstasy as Arolling.@ (T6:1073) Ryan once worked at a Sabarro=s in the Cordova Mall where Aaron-s friend worked. (T6:1070) When he came home, Ryan was so stressed from having to talk to people at work that he would be delusional and talk to himself. (T6:1070) Aaron was present when Ryan hung their mother=s jewelry around the room, carved a brain in the dining room chair and exploded in anger when he learned that his uncle would not cosign a loan for a car. (T6:1072-1073)

Dr. James Larson, a psychologist, evaluated Ryan Green. (T6:1083-1095) Larson first saw Green shortly after his arrest on February 27, 2003, and a total of ten times throughout the case proceedings. (T6:1095) The evaluations included the

gathering of information from a number of sources about Green, the alleged crimes and psychological testing. (T6:1096-1100) Larson=s conclusion was that Ryan was psychotic with a manic state. (T6:1101) He suffered bizarre thinking, delusions and hallucinations, both auditory and visual. (T6:1101-1103) Regarding the shooting of Christopher Phipps, Green told Larson that he believed that Phipps wanted to commit suicide and that he thought he should help him. (T6:1104) There was a red rag hanging up which Green took as a symbol that Phipps wanted to die. (T6:1104) Larson explained that it is common for psychotic individuals to attach meaning to certain colors or numbers. (T6:1104-1106) Colors also played a role for Green in the shooting of James Hallman. (T6:1108) Hallman=s cane coordinated with the interior of the car Green drove and the color of Hallman=s shirt was also of significance. (T6:1108) When Green asked Hallman for directions, Hallman bent his head down which also meant to Green that Hallman wanted to die. (T6:1108) Larson said, AIt was just a random killing because he believed in his sick mind that the man wanted to be killed at that time.@ (T6:1108) Larson stated that at the time of these shootings, Green should have been in a psychiatric facility or on antipsychotic medications. (T6:1108)

Larson chose not to give a specific opinion on whether Green was sane or insane at the time of the offense since he thought that was a decision for the jury. (T6:1114-1117) He did state that there was no disagreement that Green was mentally ill and psychotic on the day of the shootings. (T6:1115-1116) Additionally, Larson testified that Green-s hallucinations and delusions Agrossly impacted his behavior@ at the time of the shootings and that the shootings would not have happened if Green had been treated for his mental illness.(T6:1117)

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