IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RYAN THOMAS GREEN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC06-211

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL MCCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399 DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL Tallahassee, Florida (850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583 (850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Mr. Greg Sievers testified that Mr. Hallman took him into his family like a son when he was 16 years old. Mr. Sievers read a statement to the jury. Mr. Sievers told the jury that Mr. Hallman positively influenced his life. He testified Mr. Hallman had been a police officer for 34 years until he retired shortly before he was murdered. (TR Vol. VIII 1453).

Mr. Sievers described Mr. Hallman as the friendliest,

-62-

most helpful man one would ever want to meet. (TR Vol. VIII 1453). Mr. Hallman was well known in the community and all the kids would recognize him and approach him. They knew Mr. Hallman always had a smile, a kind word, and a piece of candy for them. (TR Vol. VIII 1453).

According to Mr. Sievers, Mr. Hallman was the kind of policeman everybody loved. He made a positive impression on Mr. Sievers. Mr. Sievers followed Mr. Hallman into law enforcement and worked with him for several years. (TR Vol. VIII 1454).

Mr. Sievers told the jury he never met anyone who disliked Mr. Hallman and Mr. Hallman was the type of person who would give you the shirt off his back even if the person who needed it was a complete stranger. (TR Vol. VIII 1454).

Mr. Sievers testified that Mr. Hallman was 59 years old and had looked forward to spending his retirement with his wife. (TR Vol. VIII 1454).

Mr. Sievers told the jury that he and his wife have a six year old daughter who loved her "Paw Paw". She wishes, when she blows the birthday candles out on her cake or sees the first star, that she could grow wings and fly up to heaven to see her "Paw Paw" one more time. (TR Vol. VIII 1455). His daughter also wants to go see Ms. Hallman because Ms. Hallman

-63-

is sad and it always makes her happy to see his daughter. (TR Vol. VIII 1455).

Finally, Mr. Sievers thanked the prosecutor for his hard work and dedication. Mr. Sievers said that Mr. Hallman would be

proud that the system that he had devoted his career to had worked for him in the end. (TR Vol. VIII 1455-1456).

Trial counsel raised no contemporaneous objection to any of Mr. Sievers' testimony. At the conclusion of Mr. Sievers' testimony, however, trial counsel moved for a mistrial. Trial counsel noted that at the end of Mr. Sievers' testimony, the "characterization of my client and the circumstances of this case" were exactly what is prohibited. Trial counsel did not identify any particular characterization of his client or the circumstances of this case about which he took issue. (TR Vol. VIII 1456).

Trial counsel did, however, raise a specific complaint about the witness's praise of Mr. Rimmer. (TR Vol. VIII 1456). The trial judge took the motion for mistrial under advisement. Trial counsel then requested the trial judge to ensure that "this" did not happen with other witnesses. Though he did not specify what "this" was, it is logical to

-64-

conclude trial counsel was referring to praise for the prosecutor. No other witness commented on the prosecutor's duty performance. (TR Vol. VIII 1473).

The prosecution next called Jamie Steyne, Mr. Hallman's daughter and Diane Hallman, Mr. Hallman's wife. (TR Vol. VIII 1457-1466). Trial counsel posed no objection to any of the victim impact testimony offered by these two witnesses.

Finally, James Hallman III took the witness stand.²⁰ James Hallman is Mr. Hallman's son. (TR Vol. VIII 1467). James told the jury he was affected by looking at his father's planner which his mother carried around. He told the jury that the pages once full of plans were now empty as were the days and months since his father was torn from their lives. (TR Vol. VIII 1468).

James testified he hardly recognized his father in the hospital. James described how his father had just retired from the police force and had looked forward to spending it with his mother. (TR Vol. VIII 1468). He testified those dreams were shattered because of this senseless act of crime. (TR Vol. VIII 1469).

James told the jury his father was a kind and caring

²⁰ The State will refer to the witness, James Hallman III, as "James" to prevent any possible confusion between the witness

person who made a positive impact on the community and touched many lives. (TR Vol. VIII 1469). James explained the damage done by the bullet wound to Mr. Hallman's head. (TR Vol. VIII 1470). He also described how Mr. Hallman suffered in the last hours of his life and how the funeral was a terrible experience for the family. (TR Vol. VIII 1471). He described how so many members of the community turned out to pay their respects to his father. (TR Vol. VIII 1471-1472). Until then, James was unaware how many lives his father had touched. (TR Vol. VIII 1472).

James told the jury he had witnessed some of what the jury had gone through and that it had only seen a fraction of the grief and sorrow that has filled his family for the past two years, seven months, and seventeen days. (TR Vol. VIII 1472). He understood that none of the jurors wanted to be in the position of ultimate responsibility. (TR Vol. VIII 1472).

Finally, he asked the jury to give weight to the senselessness of the crime knowing his father had spent 34 years on the force, had made a career out of defending the people and the laws the jury must consider and never shot anyone because he was aware of the consequences. (TR Vol. VIII 1472). James closed by noting that while he was so proud

and the victim.

of his Dad, it did not make it any easier to lose him. (TR Vol. VIII 1472).

During James' testimony, trial counsel made no contemporaneous objection. At the conclusion of James' testimony, however, trial counsel moved for a mistrial. (TR Vol. VIII 1473).

Only then did trial counsel point to the particular points of the victim impact testimony about which he took issue. Trial counsel offered that it was impermissible for Mr. Sievers to tell the jury that Mr. Hallman's murder stole the heart from the Hallman family. Trial counsel also complained, once again, that the witness complimented the prosecutor. Finally, trial counsel noted that the final witness, James Hallman III, went beyond the bounds of permissible victim impact testimony when he described his father's injuries, his suffering, his ultimate death, and attempted to put the jurors in his own situation. (TR Vol. VIII 1474).

The State responded that the witnesses' testimony was classic victim impact evidence in which the witnesses described the impact of Mr. Hallman's death on their family and the community, as well as Mr. Hallman's uniqueness as a human being. (TR Vol. VIII 1475). The trial judge ruled it

-67-

would take the motion for mistrial under advisement. (TR Vol. VIII 1475).²¹ During closing argument, the State did not repeat any of the victim impact testimony nor did he ask jurors to consider it in making their recommendation. (TR Vol. IX 1517). During final jury instructions, the trial court, once again, instructed the jury the victim impact evidence they heard from Mr. Hallman's family could be considered only as to the victim's uniqueness as an individual human being and the resultant loss by Mr. Hallman's death and could not be weighed as an aggravating circumstance. (TR Vol. The Court also reminded the jury that only VIII 1540). aggravating circumstances on which it was instructed may be weighed against mitigating circumstances. (TR Vol. VIII 1540). The trial court instructed only on the prior violent felony

aggravator (contemporaneous attempted murder of Christopher Phipps) and the avoid arrest aggravator. (TR Vol. VIII 1538).

In <u>Payne v. Tennessee</u>, 501 U.S. 808, 827, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 115 L.Ed.2d 720 (1991), the United States Supreme Court held that the Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution did not prevent the State from presenting evidence about the

²¹ After a post-trial hearing, the trial judge ultimately denied the motion. (R. Volume II 1473-1475).

victim, evidence of the impact of the murder on the victim's family, and prosecutorial argument on these subjects, if permitted to do so by state law.²² Subsequently, the Florida legislature enacted legislation which permits the prosecution to introduce and argue victim impact evidence.

Section 921.141(7), Florida Statutes provides that once the prosecution has provided evidence of the existence of one or more statutory aggravating circumstances, the prosecution may introduce, and subsequently argue, victim impact evidence. The statute provides that such evidence shall be designed to demonstrate the victim's uniqueness as an individual human being and the resultant loss to the community's members by the victim's death. Characterizations and opinions about the crime, the defendant, and the appropriate sentence are not permitted as a part of victim impact evidence.

The standard of review for this third issue on appeal is an abuse of discretion. <u>England v. State</u>, 940 So.2d 389, 401-402 (Fla. 2006). A motion for a mistrial should only be granted when an error is so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial. Id.

²² In <u>Payne</u>, the United States Supreme Court found no constitutional error in the admission of testimony from the victims' mother and grandmother that her surviving grandchild cries for, and misses his mom and his sister. <u>Payne v.</u> Tennessee, 501 U.S. at 814.

This Court should deny this claim for two reasons. First, Green waived any claim that the trial court erroneously admitted Mr. Sievers' and Mr. Hallman's testimony when he offered no contemporaneous objection to those portions of the testimony about which he now complains.²³ This Court has ruled that in order to preserve this issue for direct appeal, a contemporaneous objection must be raised. <u>Sexton v. State</u>, 775 So.2d 923, 932 (Fla. 2000). *See also* <u>Card v. State</u>, 803 So.2d 613 (Fla. 2001). Green's motion for mistrial at the end of the testimony was not sufficient to preserve the issue. <u>Norton v. State</u>, 709 So.2d 87, 94 (Fla. 1997).

This Court may also deny this claim because, with the exception of two brief comments during the testimony of James Hallman III, none of the testimony about which Green complains crossed the line into impermissible victim impact testimony. As such, Green cannot show the victim impact evidence was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial.

All of the testimony offered by the State centered around the loss suffered by Mr. Hallman's family and community as a result of the murder and the grief his family suffered as a

²³ While Green raises this issue as a claim the trial court erred in denying his motion for mistrial, Green seems also to frame the issue as a substantive claim the trial judge erred in admitting victim impact testimony. (IB 53). This latter claim is procedurally barred because Green offered no contemporaneous objection.

result of his death.

On several occasions, this Court has ruled that testimony from family members constitutes both relevant and proper victim impact evidence. <u>Bonifay v. State</u>, 680 So.2d 413, 419-20 (Fla. 1996) (testimony from family members constitutes both relevant and proper victim impact evidence. Family members are unique to each other by reason of the relationship and the role each has in the family. A loss to the family is a loss to both the community of the family and to the larger community outside the family). *See* also <u>Mansfield v. State</u>, 758 So.2d 636,649 (Fla. 2000); <u>Windom v. State</u>, 656 So.2d 432 (Fla. 1995).

Moreover, this Court has permitted testimony similar to that offered by the Hallman family. In <u>Mansfield v. State</u>, 758 So.2d 636, 649 (Fla. 2000), this Court ruled that the testimony of the victim's mother-in-law about the effect of the victim's death on her surviving children was permissible victim impact evidence. This Court also found no error in the admission of two photographs of the victim, one of her pictured with her family and the other of her and her children engaged in church activities. Id.

In Davis v. State, 703 So.2d 1055 (Fla. 1997), this Court

-71-

rebuffed Davis' challenge to the trial court's ruling permitting the victim's mother to read a statement she prepared concerning the impact of the child victim's death on her friends and family. This Court noted the statement discussed the victim's importance to her brother, sister, mother, family, and friends, testimony this court characterized as "clearly the type of evidence contemplated by the decisions of this Court and the United States Supreme Court." Id. at 1060.

Likewise, in <u>Burns v. State</u>, 699 So.2d 646, 652 (Fla. 1997), a case in which the victim was an active duty police officer, this Court found no error in the admission of testimony from both the victim's father and a fellow officer outlining the victim's background, training, and character, as well as his family's grief. *See also <u>Kormondy v. State</u>*, 845 So.2d 41, 54 (Fla. 2003) (concluding that family members' testimony the victim was an outstanding member of the community, a devoted husband, and a loving son was within statutory guidelines); <u>Bonifay v. State</u>, 680 So.2d 413, 419-420 (Fla. 1996) (testimony from the victim's wife about the impact of her husband's death on her was permissible victim impact testimony).

In the instant case, while Mr. Sievers did briefly thank

-72-

the prosecutor for his efforts in prosecuting the case, Mr. Sievers offered no characterization or opinion about the crime, the defendant, or the appropriate sentence. As such, none of his comments fell within the prohibitions of Section 921.141(7), Florida Statutes. Green has failed to show this one brief comment was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial. James Hallman III, well, offered as no characterization or opinion about the defendant or the appropriate sentence. Contrary to Green's assertions, the record does not support Green's claim that James violated the "Golden Rule". Even presuming a witness can violate the "Golden Rule", James never requested the jury to imagine the pain of his father as he lay dying from a gunshot wound to the head nor did he ask jurors to even imagine the family's own pain and grief. See generally Garron v. State, 528 So.2d 353, 358-359 (Fla. 1988) (holding that such comments such as "you can just imagine the pain of the victim" are improper Golden Rule comments). Instead, in context, it is clear James was simply attempting to explain to the jury that, prior to the penalty phase, it had not been privy to the complete picture of Mr. Hallman's uniqueness as a human being and the resultant loss suffered by his family and friends. (TR Vol. VIII 1472).

Finally, while James did briefly characterize the crime

-73-

as "senseless", Green cannot show these fairly innocuous comments were so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial. First, the trial judge properly instructed the jury, both before and after the testimony, that victim impact evidence could not be considered in aggravation nor could it be a part of the weighing process. <u>Kearse v. State</u>, 770 So.2d 1119, 1133 (Fla. 2000) (approving the trial court's instruction to the jury that they could not consider victim impact testimony to establish an aggravating circumstance). The prosecutor did not emphasize or even point to any part of the victim impact testimony during his closing argument.

Additionally, the evidence presented during the guilt phase demonstrated, without question, the murder was both senseless and random. During the guilt phase, the jury heard evidence that Mr. Hallman died simply because he was taking his daily walk on the same country road from which Ryan Thomas Green decided to shoot a bull from a stolen car with a stolen gun.

In <u>Sexton v. State</u>, 775 So.2d 923, 933 (Fla. 2000), this Court considered Sexton's claim that the trial judge erred in admitting the testimony of the victim's aunt. In particular, Sexton claimed her testimony, which characterized the victim's murder as a senseless act of violence and made reference to

-74-

the victim's son who died under mysterious circumstances, should not have been put before the jury. This Court agreed and ruled the witness' testimony exceeded the scope of permissible impact evidence. This Court held, however, that any error in allowing the testimony was harmless because the jury was already familiar with the circumstances of the victim's death. Sexton v. State, 775 So.2d at 933.

Because Green's jury was familiar with the circumstances of the murder at the time Mr. Hallman's son offered his opinion the crime was "senseless," Green cannot show the testimony was so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial. Accordingly, Green cannot show the trial judge erred in denying his motion for mistrial and this Court should deny this claim.

ISSUE FOUR

WHETHER FLORIDA'S CAPITAL SENTENCING PROCEDURES ARE UNCONSITITUTIONAL PURSUANT TO RING v. ARIZONA

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